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“So we beat on, boats against the current, borne back ceaselessly into the past.”


—F. Scott Fitzgerald,


The Great Gatsby












A vagabond, he came out of nowhere, and blossomed literally overnight into one of the highest salaried writers in the film colony . . . [and] a real social light. Wherever there was an elite dinner or a grand opening or a Blue Blood revel, he appeared escorting some of Hollywood’s most famous beauties. He was everywhere: The Mayfair, the Cocoanut Grove, the exclusive Academy dinners. A handsome young man of teutonic features, with light hair clipped short, steely gray eyes, and something Prussian in his erect bearing. He always impressed one as being cruel. No one seemed to know much about him. No one does now; although there are vague rumors of a deep, dark past.


“Hunted Men of Hollywood,” Modern Screen Magazine, July 1933









INTRODUCTION


Director John Villiers Farrow came into Hollywood the same way he went out: a mystery, an unsolvable puzzle whose pieces never fit together into an understandable whole. Yet between the time he showed up in Los Angeles, in 1927, and the year he died of a massive heart attack in 1963 at the young age of fifty-eight, the Australian American Farrow wrote and directed over fifty films, most of them memorable, even classic— great sea chases and high seas adventures, westerns that were quirky in their boots, and most famously, some of Hollywood’s greatest film noir classics of the 1940s and 1950s, including the masterful The Big Clock, the shadowy Alias Nick Beal, and the psychotically tinged Where Danger Lives.


But John Farrow left something else behind: a nearly thirty-year marriage to actress Maureen O’Sullivan that produced seven children, including actress Mia Farrow, who would go on to keep the family name public, something John Farrow would never have wanted or imagined. For him, there were reasons to stand far back from the limelight of a gossipy town, shrink from the glitz, the glamour, and the seduction of the spotlight and instead stay behind the camera. He had secrets: dark parts of his soul that he kept hidden from others even as he made them suffer for them.


John Farrow, a tormented soul who had little idea of the extent of his psychic pain, had little awareness of the pain he caused his family or the legacy of trauma he left his children when he departed their lives. But his daughter Mia, closest to John Farrow in spirit and love, made them public without intent, without malice. Father and daughter hold between them the gamut of the Farrows’ fascinating and conflicted lives that played out over several decades in Hollywood.


This book, a biography of the Farrow family, charts their double lives: As Hollywood royalty, the family created a fairy-tale public existence. But behind that exterior lay an often dark world touched by psychological turmoil, pain, even tragedy. When John Farrow died, few people outside the family knew the interiority of the man, the inside narrative of his family. It wasn’t until his daughter Mia Farrow accused her partner of many years, Woody Allen, of sexual misconduct that the Farrow family secrets slipped into the public eye. In telling a story about Woody Allen’s behavior with his children, Mia unwittingly revealed her own relationship with the father who left a legacy of pain, trauma, even tragedy to his children years earlier that continues to affect their lives and the lives of future generations of Farrows. To understand the story Mia tells, we must first understand the teller herself, Mia. Yet, in order to understand Mia, we must first understand her father, John Farrow. This biography of the Farrows takes up the task of looking fully into their lives—for history’s sake, and for the sake of stories we tell, the stories that keep us all connected to and implicated in each other’s lives.


I intend neither accusations toward nor support of Mia Farrow, the Farrow family, or Woody Allen in these pages. My interest lies with understanding some of the psychological warfare that embraced the Farrow family. This biography addresses the phenomenon of psychic trauma, meaning the psychic wounds that, unfortunately, occur all too often in our human condition. We are vulnerable souls, lest we ever forget that.


In this book I also discuss two distinct kinds of facts: historical facts, which are facts, feelings, behaviors that exist in the social world, that can be documented (as I have done throughout the book). The other kinds of facts are those that stem from an analysis, an interpretation of the unconscious life of these family members. They are true to the narrative in someone’s mind but they are not required to be historically accurate. These I do not document with notes. Instead, they are part of the language of the unconscious; they are notable but they are not necessary consciously intended by the people I discuss. Yet they have more truth to them than anything consciously said, done, or felt. The language of the unconscious has a logic of its own, a truth of its own. It is the most accurate means of understanding anyone. I have not created these facts, have not imposed them on the family or mistakenly credited them to the family. I have instead recovered them by knowing the people I describe.









PART ONE









One


A HOLLYWOOD FAMILY




History, like trauma, is never simply one’s own. History is precisely the way each of us is implicated in each other’s traumas.


—Cathy Caruth, Unclaimed Experience





In February 1992, actress Mia Farrow let herself into boyfriend Woody Allen’s apartment with her key and entered his bedroom. Glancing at his dresser, she discovered something that no doubt shocked her: photos of her nineteen-year-old adopted daughter, Soon-Yi Previn, naked and smiling for the camera. Looking at her daughter’s naked body on display was enough to crumble Mia. But who was Soon-Yi smiling for behind the camera? Of course, it was Woody.


If the shock didn’t topple Mia, what would? Woody was not Soon-Yi’s father; then, again, he was. Although not yet in the picture when Mia and former husband André Previn adopted Soon-Yi, Woody was now Mia’s partner of twelve years, a reluctant participant in Mia’s strong desire to create family around her. The way Mia (and most of society) saw it, if Soon-Yi was Mia’s daughter, was she not also, by proxy, Woody’s daughter? Living with unspoken yet well-defined social codes, were they not as good as carved in stone? Woody had just made a huge mistake, a wrong turn; he’d crossed the line.


Worse still, he’d betrayed Mia. That kind of betrayal breaks your heart, pulls the ground out from under you. You don’t recover from this one.


As it turned out, that day was just the tip of the iceberg under Mia and Woody. Mia’s private discovery became everyone’s public information—but not without her help. In August 1992 Mia Farrow held a press conference and accused Woody Allen of molesting the child they had adopted together, seven-year-old daughter Dylan Farrow. According to Mia, this news came straight from Dylan’s mouth. No coaching, no interception from Mom had occurred.


This news story thoroughly captured the imagination of men and women everywhere, so completely seduced the global media that it was nothing less than the creation of another universe in which all Mia-Woody news junkies could coexist peacefully while taking one side or the other. Thirty years later, since closing out one century and ushering in the next, little has changed.


Various events and “disclosures” helped to blow it up in 1992. Woody soon announced that he was having an affair with Soon-Yi and that they were in love. Time and again, Woody denied that he’d done anything to Dylan; his denial never wavered. One investigation after another failed to find any evidence that Woody ever molested Dylan. Was this true? Was this retaliation for Woody’s betrayal of Mia with Soon-Yi? The news gathered steam, then grew larger than life: these were celebrities, after all, soon to become legend, as their sad story eventually gathered momentum from the mood of the soon-to-be #MeToo movement. It was an issue that now fed itself on the demand that centuries of female suffering be recognized and that retribution be doled out to males everywhere to compensate for their long history of physical and emotional crimes committed against women.


The Never-Ending Circle


Eventually the Woody-Mia fiasco established boundaries between warring neighborhoods of thought: Mia’s supporters (of which there were many) on one side, Woody’s supporters (mostly nonverbal) on the other. For years, darts and arrows, damning accusations, exploitive headlines, and endless photo ops flew from one camp to the other. Through it all, Woody was never legally charged with any crime. Now and again, larger events popped up to breathe new energy into the battlefield. In 2014, for instance the Hollywood Foreign Press Association bestowed its prestigious Lifetime Achievement Award on Woody for his body of work.1 Ronan Farrow—Woody and Mia’s biological son—took offense and then took to the media to voice his outrage that a “child molester” such as his father be rewarded for anything in this life. Then, Ronan himself made headlines after publishing an investigative piece in the New Yorker in 2017 that outed movie mogul Harvey Weinstein’s sexual harassment of film industry women that had secretly taken place for years. Ronan won a Pulitzer Prize, and Weinstein went down, taking with him a huge assortment of other “male sexual predators” in the #MeToo movement that swept across the globe, “catching” every powerful male in every variety of business who could be named as an “abuser” of women.


Then, in 2021, HBO aired a documentary, Allen v. Farrow— five years in the making—that once more pumped new life into the Mia-Woody fiasco. The producers kept their work under wraps for those five years: when small-screen audiences first heard about it, airtime was in no time: the documentary seemed to have suddenly appeared out of nowhere.


But Allen v. Farrow turns out to be a full-fledged work of art, heavily armed with weapons of mass conversion. Looking more like a romantic melodrama feature film than a documentary, it pulls out every possible conceit of fictional film: seamless editing that makes the spectator feel as if he or she is in an alternate romantic universe that is just as real as the one outside the screening room; lush romantic background music; impeccably plush background and homey foregrounds (Mia’s Connecticut home called Frog Hollow). Most importantly, sitting front and center most of the time, Mia herself narrates a woeful tale: how Woody Allen, a sophisticated manipulator of all media tactics, duped her, Mia, an unsuspecting innocent who hadn’t a clue of what was going on behind her back. Daughter Dylan, seven years old at the time of the alleged molestation, supposedly needed no coaching from her mother or any other of their friends who confirm that Mia’s tale, her accusation, is the whole truth and nothing but.


Despite the documentary’s huge, seductive, and beautifully crafted arsenal—the weapons of mass persuasion, the narrative tilted toward Mia’s innocence—no drumroll was heard after HBO aired its five-part piece of propaganda. No mass conversion to Mia’s side of the court could be felt: her people had always been on that side of the net.


No matter the ratio, it still remains that, after thirty years of verbal warfare along with the chill of a cold war (even as the players grow older and move on with their lives), there is still no closure, no conclusion to draw about Mia and Dylan’s accusations or Woody’s ongoing claims of innocence. No formal investigation has turned up any evidence that Woody molested Dylan. What’s more, no verdict looks likely to be coming around the corner. There is no new evidence or information, no change to be seen on the horizon.


Has the evidence pointing to Woody’s guilt been stolen? Has it been so expertly manipulated by his handlers that it looks to have disappeared? Or, has it never existed? Have the last thirty years been nothing more than one person’s narrative, and a fictive narrative at that?


In 2018, Mia and Woody’s adopted son, Moses Farrow, one of Woody’s staunchest supporters, went viral. He put his blog on the large map of social media and reiterated that his father, Woody Allen, is innocent and has been from the get-go. He went even further, claiming that, in truth, his mother, Mia Farrow’s, story is fakery. In fact, he says, Mia is the abusive one in the family and has been so for years. And, once asked by a slightly slanted news reporter how he could not have seen anything at all between Woody and Dylan, Moses answered, “How can you see something that never happened?”


Well, you can’t.


But, it’s not quite that simple.


The storyteller never lives separately from, or even far from, the story. You can try to separate the two, but you can never sever one from the other.


Going further, what if the teller of the story sees no difference between the facts and the story. They are very different from each other.


Mia Farrow is the progeny of a family of gifted storytellers. Living inside a narrative, a story, was natural to them. There were always facts, but they made stories from them. Telling stories, and performing them in public on the movie screen, or on the stage or for television, was no less familiar than writing or directing one. If life were a script, the stuff of stories, it would be understandable. Both her parents were Hollywood storytellers: Her mother Maureen O’Sullivan acted them out on the big screen, her father John Farrow spent his life’s work, his lifeblood, in the act of creating stories, as a writer and film director.


John Farrow grew up inside his imagination. He never had a choice about it. Abandoned as an infant by his father and his mother torn away from him, he grew by any means he could: he lived his life in stories and adventures; he had to create a foundation and context of his own making, mixing fiction and fact, to replace the family he did not have. This suited him well when he arrived in Hollywood. But for some it’s too easy to confuse the real and the fictive, to fail to distinguish between the two. It might be entirely possible that John Farrow, having grown up so isolated in his own imagination and the world he by necessity had to invent in absence of a familial one, created the narrative of his own life to tell others (no less than himself), replacing the fictive story as real, replacing the facts themselves with stories.


Farrow’s failure to distinguish between the two seemed compatible with his wife Maureen O’Sullivan’s instincts as a movie star. Her long relationship to the Hollywood publicity machines was by nature based on telling public stories to shield private, personal lives. Talking to Hedda Hopper or giving an interview to a popular woman’s magazine was, by definition, a performance. It would be complexly understandable if her life with John Farrow quickly transformed into three decades of posturing as happy, when in fact living with the woman-chasing John Farrow was often tormenting for her. In turn, the Farrow children were mostly silent about their homelife. But, as Mia later wrote, Hollywood thought the family lived a fairy-tale existence; in truth, a nightmare often lived there too.


Complexity ruled. John Farrow could easily be his daughter’s intellectual mentor, teaching her by example how to master the art of storytelling. She loved this father who told stories, who filled her mind with adventure. Yet he was also a father who beat her and placed his Catholicism on the family like a great burden.


Just as every Hollywood movie has a script and a backstory behind it, so too does every story, no matter who tells it, have a prewritten script and backstory. More often than not, these remain unseen, unspoken—and unknown. In the myriad of stories, and scripts, that emerged from, and that have flown around Mia Farrow’s accusations against Woody Allen, one story has remained left untold—the possible backstory to, and connection with, Mia’s own childhood. Her childhood, much like all of our childhoods, could very well color the way she sees now, and the way she lives her life and talks about it.


The Farrow home was hardly a fairyland. In truth it was a tense, rigid, tightly wound and religiously bound environment where the children hardly saw their parents and spent many hours at parochial school and later Catholic boarding schools. Play became urgent, a lifesaver. It hardly numbed the pain of John Farrow’s frequent and unpredictable anger; it hardly numbed the sting of his physical and emotional abuse of his children, but play became part of the landscape, as we shall see.


Yet, the man who would eventually beat his children was also the man they looked up to time and again. His frequent absences from home when directing a film on location, coupled with his emotional unavailability when he was present, only made him seem more urgently desired. For Mia especially, who followed him into show business, who remained closest to him in spirit and in emotional likeness, John Farrow, who died when Mia was seventeen, was Mia’s closest emotional mentor—even ally. Keeping her father alive in her life, while it might have been unconsciously played out, could very well have been the under-current in her storytelling, perhaps even her life’s work. Mia is irrevocably tied to her father. John Farrow shaped Mia’s life. She is his manufacture. To understand Mia and her childhood is to discover the untold backstory, even perhaps the psychological motivation, behind her accusation against Woody Allen. Yet to gain any understanding of Mia, to know Mia, it is first necessary to understand John Farrow.


Where Fairy Tales Begin


The story of the Farrows as a family begins in postwar Los Angeles, a city whose particular landscape and lifestyle directly influenced their everyday existence. It was a time when many World War II veterans left the East Coast and brought their families west to take advantage of the city’s still wide-open spaces, rapidly closing in. Los Angeles was experiencing a housing boom, attracting people from all parts of the United States who now took up residence in the City of Angels. The biggest draw was of course the movie industry, which had long ago taken over the city and by now defined it. The industry continued to attract a nonstop flow of people from all around the United States and Europe, anyone who wanted to taste the glamour and excitement of Hollywood. And as glamorous and exciting as the movie industry might seem, its real business was to perfect the art of dreaming. You could dream, imagine, and then create any version of yourself and the world around you that you desired. Eventually the two might even merge into one coherent space and become the reality that never faded.


Beverly Hills, the birthplace of all the Farrow children, was the emerald of Los Angeles, a city founded by famous movie people such as Mary Pickford, Douglas Fairbanks, Charlie Chaplin, and Will Rogers. By the time the Farrows became a family living in Beverly Hills the city had long enjoyed the reputation of being home to the wealthy, the successful—and, of course, the famous. More than anything else, the enclave housed the stars who appeared in the movies. How so many lives with so much imagination could fit inside Beverly Hills’s small parameters was a marvel.


But famous faces were only half of the city’s stories. Some West Coast families had roots going back generations, families having built lives as farmers, merchants, and cattle herders. Still others were transplants who came to see if they could build a life on little more than a dream. Some stayed only as long as they could. Others could think of no better place to be as new decades descended on the city and the simpler days faded forever.


Life in Beverly Hills in the 1950s felt more intimate, seemingly more innocent, than any time since. This was a family town, and the warm climate brought people outside where connections between people seemed easier and more casual. But change would, of course, descend on the city. Innocence would be more difficult to claim.


As more tourists came to visit each year, the city always gave them something to look at. If you turned south of Beverly Hills proper, you’d find the Celluloid Monument, a large piece of marble with the likeness of eight Beverly Hills citizens carved into it. The eight were famous movie people who, in 1928, fought the big, bad city of Los Angeles, which was swallowing up this small patch of heaven. These citizens, like the majority of those to settle there, were movie stars, celebrities, famous names with plenty of money. They were film industry pioneers like Douglas Fairbanks, Mary Pickford, Charlie Chaplin, and the city’s first mayor, Will Rogers.


The Celluloid Monument sits at a busy and auspicious corner, Olympic Boulevard and Beverly Drive, where the light turns red and seems to stay that color for five long minutes, making drivers a captive audience, forced to look at the figures and the words carved at the bottom. But it’s not a glitzy monument, so it leaves little impression on tourists and errant locals.


The same cannot be said of the many locals who are members of the film community. The monument reminds them of who they are, what dreams live inside them, and how they spend their lives: making movies, worshiping movies, even feeling fed up with movies after spending so much of their lives with them. They are the movies. It’s no mystery. It’s just a fact.


And so it was, back in the 1950s. During weekdays, not unlike any other city with business on its mind, Beverly Hills’s streets bustled with board lunches, corporate handshakes, and harried jaywalkers trying to get to them. But on weekends the locals could take time to think of themselves as regular folk. On Sunday evenings, as dusk descended on the city’s palm trees and bougainvillea vines, washing the city with romantic pink and red hues, entire families would walk out their front doors, past their impeccably manicured front lawns, and take to the streets. You’d see them enjoying a leisurely stroll, maybe window-shopping along Rodeo Drive or Dayton Way, as many of them made their way to Sunday-evening dinners at a favorite restaurant. To a visitor passing through town, this flow of friendliness, the warm sense of community and family, could rival any heartfelt sentiment an MGM Andy Hardy movie could cook up in the 1930s.


At this hour, restaurants welcomed their regular customers as if they were family. Cuisine from any country could be found. If you wanted to eat spaghetti, you’d find yourself waiting in line on almost any street in the area. If you happened to like more exotic dishes, you might find a table at the famed and pricey Trader Vic’s or brave the crowd at the popular Luau restaurant on Canon Drive and Brighton. Despite its small radius, Beverly Hills seemed to offer a plentiful bounty.


On Sunday evenings you’d walk down any of its avenues and see families entering the numerous eateries that dotted the streets, each unique in atmosphere and cuisine. If you went inside one of them to wait for a table, you might look around the dining room and spot a number of recognizable faces you’d seen on movie screens or on television. Families took up many of the larger tables. The atmosphere was relaxed; the patrons chatted to each other as they ate. If you gazed more closely, your eye would undoubtedly stop at one particular family of nine sitting quietly reading their menus. It might have been the Farrow family: their faces were handsome, even beautiful—you wouldn’t be the first to notice this.


The seven children and their mother, actress Maureen O’Sullivan, might have waited for director John Farrow to call the waiter to their table and order. And they paid little attention to stares from others in the dining room. They were called the pretty ones, the beautiful Farrows. For many, especially those who knew them from a distance, the family must have lived a fairy-tale life. After all, they had looks, money, and movie star prestige.


Yet the real facts can be very different from what we imagine them to be. Looking at the beauty and reserve of this family, who could have guessed that the Farrows, now sitting quietly in a Beverly Hills restaurant, lived in a world that could hardly be described as a fairy tale? And who would have ever anticipated the sadness, the trauma, the tragedy that awaited this family in the years to come?


John Farrow was one of Hollywood’s busiest directors; he’d worked in pictures since the late 1920s, rising to prominence very early on. Yet, even though many of the people seated in this restaurant had worked with him at one time or another, even frequently, during those thirty years, probably no one could tell you they knew much about him; who he really was. His coworkers at the numerous Hollywood studios around town could not say they understood him, even if they’d worked with him regularly.


Nor did any of John Farrow’s immediate family truly understand him. Farrow was a mystery—to the Hollywood community, and even to his wife, Maureen O’Sullivan, and to his seven children. He may as well have been the king of a magical yet distant place in a fairy tale from a time long ago. Of the myriad of publicity photos taken of the Farrows, in one after another, one can look closely at his face to see a distant look in his eyes, as if he were caught up in a different place or unreachable state of mind, where no one else could enter. Actor Tab Hunter, who worked with Farrow on The Sea Chase, described Farrow’s face as “creepy,” with his “beady eyes” that looked like “two piss holes in the snow.”2


It might have been that the distant look in Farrow’s eyes indicated how much trouble he had being present for suggestions his coworkers offered on the set. He had a reputation for being difficult, to the point of not getting along with these coworkers and eventually being called, as actor Robert Mitchum, among others, had said, unfeeling to the point of being sadistic.


Regularly clashing with people he knew and worked with, Farrow seemed unable to decipher the codes of the social world he lived in. He often resisted that world. It was a mystery, but no more a mystery than Farrow was to himself. Something in the man was off-kilter, out of whack. How could the family not feel the brunt?


Yet the Farrows presented a picture of pitch-perfect, even idyllic, family life. Just earlier that morning, and exactly like the Sunday before and the one before that, they marched from their home on Beverly Drive, headed down to Santa Monica Boulevard, and then walked three blocks west to the Church of the Good Shepherd. As if performing a ritual, the Farrow children marched in a straight single line behind their father John, and their mother, Maureen. For those who lived nearby and could look out their window at this parade, the family’s presentation was nothing short of a spectacle. “The Farrows looked like a mighty army,” one neighbor later said, “and a mighty handsome one at that.”3


The family John Farrow created looked as if they were made in Hollywood and just now stepped off the screen. They seemed made from a studio mogul’s imagination of what America should look like: beautiful, better, cleaner, whiter versions of human beings than those in the real world. They looked like perfection, if you looked at their faces and no deeper. And American moviegoers took their lead. What viewers imagined while looking at these Hollywood stars looked far better than the blemished lives they had in the real world. They were incarnations of Fitzgerald’s beautiful Jay Gatsby after he’d shed the cheap bookies and the fixers on his way up the ladder of success. If anything, they seemed untouched by the swarming mess of filthy and frightening unconscious darkness that ordinary human beings could fall into, that very swamp Hemingway’s Nick Adams refused to step into as he breathed fresh air on the American landscape.


With their physical beauty, their blond hair, blue eyes, and their dignified, measured steps, the Farrows seemed to emerge from a Hollywood big-screen creation—the one no one ever questioned because they wanted so much to believe it. Yet, just like the movies that could have created them, their lives were partly truth and partly fiction. The entire family lived in a privileged world, not for a moment questioning it or considering that it might be different from the world of many other families. With the household staff, not their parents, attending to the children’s care, with their mother’s habitual retreats to her bedroom in order to be alone, and with their father’s arbitrary emotional and physical outbursts, even abuse of them, along with their strict Catholic upbringing, it could be that hell hung over them relentlessly. There might have been something off in this home.


When the city returned to work Monday morning, John Farrow most likely walked onto the set of his current movie and slipped into his usual director mode: that of a martinet, dictating to what he might have considered his subjects. Farrow demanded absolute precision and commitment from his actors and his crew. He set the goals for each day and seemed to expect that everyone would take the same route he took to get there. Everyone knew the penalty for taking an alternate route or stepping outside Farrow’s boundaries: one would suffer humiliation before an audience of one’s peers, often followed by a twinge of regret for showing up to work that morning. The biographies and autobiographies of many well-known actors who worked with Farrow—for instance, top box office names Robert Mitchum and Glenn Ford, along with beauties Lana Turner and Maureen O’Hara—recount those “unforgettable” moments they or one of their colleagues dared cross the line on Farrow’s set.


John Farrow had already earned a number of reputations in Tinseltown. They didn’t mix well but rather collided into each other. He was the rude perfectionist as well as the angry perfectionist—all the while keeping his emotional distance from others.


At home with his children (when he was not off on location or isolated in his office working on a book), his need for perfectionism could create fear in his children that, experienced once or repeatedly, could be traumatic for them. Farrow’s complexity, his contradictions, coalesced into a great story that Hollywood kept hidden until it no longer could.


When Farrow arrived in Hollywood in 1927 he needed a story of his life to tell others—to make himself known. The more adventure he brought with him, the taller the tale, the better. Anyone who sought a big career needed the right ingredients. John Farrow disseminated a whopper of a fish tale, replete with romantic escapades, high-stakes sea adventures, and travels to exotic islands. Farrow’s prose described a sensual, lush lifestyle and endless sexual escapades with beautiful women he met on those islands. He invented a beautiful fiction that displaced Farrow’s real life (a talent his daughter, Mia, would inherit).


The truth of his sad childhood was something different: a boy abandoned by his parents, left to fend for himself. Disguise was essential. If writing his life meant exaggerating, even out-and-out lying, so be it. The story came from him: he owned it. If any part of it were untrue, no one would find out anyway. The story of John Farrow was a beautifully crafted work of self-invention handed to a town where inventing big dreams were and still are a way of life. Had it hit the big screen itself, the story of young John Farrow’s road to Tinseltown, in all its romance and adventure, could have been one of Hollywood’s greatest fictions.


But Farrow’s life ultimately proved a tragic one. A talented director with a unique vision, a gifted writer and scholar, Farrow kept himself a secret to the end. Most likely, he didn’t see himself as tragic or fully realize the damage he hoisted on the lives of those close to him.


The family that lives in this biography inherited all that John Farrow never realized he was passing on, the double life (part fairy tale, part nightmare) they had to live. No matter how beautiful the Farrow family looked to others, their days in Hollywood were marked by affliction, psychological turmoil, and tragedy. Their narrative shapes itself into a saga that never ends: a tale of sadness, of one generation damaging the next and each moving forward by means of the same broken wings. In the end, the story of the Farrows is the tale of a Hollywood shakedown, the biography of a beautiful clan psychologically hijacked by a gifted yet tragic figure of a father. John Farrow and Maureen O’Sullivan lived very different childhoods—his an isolated one; hers stifled by an overbearing mother. Their disparate experiences nevertheless led them to a city where you could find fiction to make real life bearable. John and Maureen shared a love of telling stories. They could help create them and live in them at the same time. Their tale might be the greatest story Hollywood never told.









Two


DIRECTOR’S CUT: JOHN FARROW GETS A REPUTATION




We tell ourselves stories to stay alive.


—Joan Didion, Slouching Towards Bethlehem





John Farrow was made for Hollywood. He was a born storyteller, a buoyant adventurer, and (for extra credit) a gifted womanizer whose sexual conquests were tantalizing enough to make headlines on every scandal sheet in Tinseltown. His male beauty was enough to make a moviola swoon—not to mention a young starlet or two—or three.


Farrow and his handsome face arrived in Hollywood in the late 1920s, just when movies began talking. But they couldn’t talk any better or longer than Farrow could. There was no shortage of drama in the story of John Farrow he brought with him, the backstory he liked to tell. His life story (so far, at least) was so full of pathos that it could move kings and studio heads to weep.


Farrow wrote the story of himself that every newspaper columnist, every reporter, and every gossip writer picked up and printed throughout his years in Hollywood. And he was ready to talk. According to Farrow, his Australian childhood was pure Dickens: the best of times, yet the worst. He lost both parents soon after his birth in Sydney on February 10, 1904. An aunt (whose name he seemed never to remember) raised him until he ran off at fifteen to join the Merchant Marine, eventually landing in the South Seas. So taken was he by the people and the landscape that a sudden urge to write about his adventures swelled up in him—and never let go. Later on he traveled to San Francisco where he found work as a theater critic for a local newspaper. Depending on the day and the version (there were many), it was then that Farrow probably met producer David O’ Selznick, who told Farrow to take his movie star face to Hollywood and become an actor.


He went.


But Farrow became a Hollywood writer and director instead. Noir was his natural palette; sinister his zone. He sent Ray Milland scrambling for his life in the noir thriller The Big Clock; he set fireworks (as much as anyone could) under John Wayne and Geraldine Page in the western Hondo; and after Jane Russell and Robert Mitchum smooched it up in His Kind of Woman, he took half an Oscar home for cowriting Around the World in 80 Days. He was ornery and hell to work with—more than he was ever nice, but Hollywood kept him anyway.


And he could write—from the voluptuous (the ripe, robust imagery in his 1930 script and book The Bad One) to the voluminous (and much lauded biographies of religious icons and papal histories of the Catholic church). John Farrow liked to put pen to paper more than anything else; writing was John Farrow as his most authentic self. You could say he lived on the page before he lived anywhere else. In fact, much of the time he lived there instead of anywhere else.


Farrow kept journals brimming with his stories and poems: he’d wrestled with more than one blank page, filling each one with sea stories, romances, and tales of danger and adventure. But the best story Farrow ever wrote was the one about himself, the heart-pounding romantic adventure of his life so far.


He gave the story to anyone in Hollywood who would listen. Part fact, part fish tale, his story seduced journalists, studio publicists, and gossipmongers alike; they followed his lead down to each breathtaking word. It was clear: no one, not Valentino, Barrymore, or Errol Flynn, the Tasmanian devil himself, had anything on John Farrow, traveler of the high seas and seducer of women around the globe. Hollywood loves an adventure story and always has—especially one that confuses fact and fiction, truth and embellishment. John Farrow’s story obscured the line between what is real and what is imagined. The two lay hopelessly entangled, a story playing on some distant movie screen where the picture is forever out of focus.


Farrow claimed that, as a youth in his native Australia, he hated school vehemently, so he skipped out, stowing away on a ship with the Merchant Marine and sailing the Southern hemisphere. He landed in Tahiti where (to put it mildly) he tasted the charms of all the native girls on the island. He’d return to the island repeatedly throughout his life.


Behind Farrow’s wanderlust lay an unsettling childhood he ached to leave behind. His was anything but a happy entrance into this world. Farrow’s father, Thomas, left his wife, Lucy, but not before committing her to an insane asylum for post-partum depression (noted as “lactation” in hospital records). He put the baby, John, into the care of his sister, Ethel Lavinia McEnerny, who raised John until he ran off while still in his teens. Lucy Savage died in the asylum in 1907 of pneumonia and “tubercular ulceration of the intestines.” She never knew her child. John Farrow had one keepsake of his mother, a small oval portrait of her that he carried with him the rest of his life.1


Farrow’s story changed regularly. One version had him considering an accounting career after finishing high school. But that plan didn’t pan out, since he never finished high school, running off instead when he was fifteen to join the Merchant Marines. His other notion, to become a writer, was a much better fit for Farrow; traveling the globe with the Merchant Marines he’d accumulate plenty of experiences to put on paper. All these plans, including the idea of eventually having a naval career, became fodder for storytelling. He later wrote that he joined the Merchant service as a cadet, a tale that conflicted with another narrative, that he ran away to sea after jumping an American schooner, sailing “all over the Pacific,” and fighting in revolts in Nicaragua and Mexico. Either way, he was on the water, where, eventually, he felt the safest. “The ship in which I served voyaged from Sydney to New Zealand, the Fijiian Islands, Honolulu and Canada,” he later wrote. “Sometimes an alternate run would take us to Tahiti and various other islands.”2


He continued, “During the tropical peace of the night watches I had ample opportunity to keep alive my ambitions of becoming an author and, in the off-duty hours of the long voyages, I had the time to read and study the great books.” On those many voyages he wrote poetry and short stories.3


While in Tahiti, Farrow learned the story of the young nineteenth-century priest, Father Damien, who worked to aid lepers. He then contracted the disease himself and ultimately died of it. Farrow never forgot the story of Damien, who was later venerated as a saint by the Catholic Church and who became for him a model of charity. To show his admiration for Father Damien, in 1937 Farrow published a biography, Damien the Leper, still taught in Catholic schools today.


Also while in Tahiti, he also compiled an English-French-Tahitian dictionary, and was inspired to write a romantic novel, Laughter Ends, finally published in 1933.


Farrow eventually reached US shores—some reports have it that he arrived on an Australian windjammer or, according to Ray Milland, as “a purser on a Matson liner.”4 He enrolled at the Jesuits’ St. Ignatius College (now the University of San Francisco) in 1923 but left after one month.


For Farrow, telling stories was a way of life, and writing fictions about other characters was fulfilling. Composing “stories” or “fictions” about himself was that and more: an artful means of compensating for what he didn’t have as a child. Perverting the truth eventually led to larger acts of perversion resulting in far more serious consequences.


Carrying a slew of stories he’d written about his South Seas adventures, Farrow talked his way into writing theater criticism for one of the city’s small newspapers. But, not all pleasures being equal, Farrow also found time to enjoy the charms of a local beauty, seventeen-year-old Felice Lewin, the daughter of a San Francisco mining millionaire.5 He also began showing up at the offices of local newspapers, offering stories he’d written. They were either fact or fiction, whichever he fed the press. His stories impressed; he was already comfortable on the page:




Jack Farrow is the young man’s name during business hours, when he scrubs decks, polishes brass and does other humble tasks on the U.S. revenue cutter Shawnee, in San Francisco Harbor. John Neville Burg-Apton Villiers Farrow is his name during his off time, when he lives in San Francisco’s arts colony and writes free verse, dedicated to Miss Felice Lewin of San Francisco, and enjoys a remittance from home. He explained his dual role by declaring he is the grandson of an English Earl and is studying to become a navigator.6





Felice was the most courted girl in San Francisco society, and she fell head over heels for the “mysterious, monocled youth (who) came out of nowhere” and claimed to be the heir to the imposing earldom of Westmoreland. After Felice decided to marry him, the senior Lewin began to investigate Farrow, contacting the British consul-general, who could not find the name “Farrow” in the Westmoreland line. Farrow was promptly arrested (for contributing to the delinquency of a minor) and after his release, was promptly thrown into the brig for “for breach of discipline.”7


Still, in August 1924, they married, and Felice and Farrow had a daughter, also named Felice, born in December 1925. But like his father before him, Farrow chose not to stick around. According to a story in Variety: “John Villiers-Farrow, Hollywood scenarist, admits that his wife, Felice Lewin Farrow, former San Francisco society girl, is contemplating a divorce action. According to Farrow, incompatibility led to their separation two months ago. He declared a property settlement has been effected.”8


He and Felice divorced in September 1927 and Farrow returned to the South Seas. While there, a chance meeting with documentary filmmaker Robert Flaherty, then shooting his 1927 White Shadows in the South Seas, sparked Farrow’s interest in writing for the movies. That same year, he found his way back to the United States, allegedly jumping ship at San Francisco and traveling south to Hollywood.


Farrow arrived in Tinseltown ready to put his talent—and whatever else he had—to work. Had studio heads and producers, whom Farrow solicited for work, heard the tale of Felice Lewin and Mr. Monocle, they might have either shooed him away from their desks or chased him down the street throwing hundred-dollar bills at him, bidding Mr. Farrow to return and jot down a few tales for them to tell.


The factual story of Farrow’s arrival in Hollywood was more straightforward. He first arrived in the United States on November 1, 1920, in Fort Townsend, Washington, as a seaman aboard the vessel Samar.9 He returned again in 1924, on the US Revenue cutter Shawnee, in San Francisco, where he wooed and married Felice Lewin; when the marriage soured, he left again, traveling around the Pacific. He returned again in 1927 to start his career as a screenwriter. He carried no passport with him during this time.10


Farrow jumped into the movie business at a tumultuous yet fascinating juncture. Silent pictures were just on their way out as words began tumbling, sometimes clumsily, from actors’ mouths. It seemed as if Farrow had brought the words with him, as if he and the talkies flew into Hollywood together.


But the advent of the talkies separated the velvety-voiced from the not-so-pleasant vocals, the mechanically adventurous from the more timid. Not everyone in pictures was still standing after the takeover. For those who’d survived the transition to sound—actors whose voices didn’t shock audiences; directors able to operate confounding new equipment—talking pictures offered bold new forms of expression.


One of these directors, Raoul Walsh, who’d already built a sizable career and reputation in silent films, could hardly contain or put into words the excitement he felt after hearing sound for the first time. Winfred Sheehan, his boss at Fox, suggested he take in the latest picture playing at the Beverly Theatre in Beverly Hills. Walsh attended a matinee and could hardly believe the hackneyed picture he saw up on the screen:




I got up to leave but turned back at the top of the aisle, when a burst of sound from the newsreel caught my attention. There before my eyes a Fox MovieTone News truck was filming a dock strike. The shouting came from a man who was evidently a union leader. His exhortation did not interest me but the open-air news shot did. I broke the speed limit all the way back to the studio.11





Sound pictures would quickly reinforce the grip that Hollywood and the movies already had on the general public. Tinseltown in the 1920s had already come to symbolize “the new morality” of the decade—mixing extravagance, glamour, hedonism, and great fun. By 1929, there were 25,000 cinemas; an average of a hundred million Americans went to the movies on a weekly basis. Stars made millions of dollars and became American royalty. The East Coast Edison trust that had dominated the motion picture industry had long been broken and filmmakers once cloistered in East Coast cities branched out to the West Coast. Its warm climate invited longer production days; its variety of landscapes inspired the imagination.


The beginning months of 1930 were both opportune and perilous times for the motion picture industry. Over time, the stock market crash of 1929 sent audiences to the movies in increasing numbers as a way to escape the stifling reality of economic depression. But it also caused the studios to tighten their belts and production costs. The studios were skeptical about using sound under a number of circumstances: for example, western films as a genre still embraced simple storytelling that often translated to very little dialogue, the exact opposite of what using sound implied. Equally problematic were the large, clumsy cameras that had to be enclosed in boxes to keep their whirring sounds away from the likewise clumsy microphones. These cameras could not be moved around easily on soundstages. Still, many directors loved the fact that audiences could now hear authentic sounds coming from the movie screen.


Given time, the new frontier called “the movie industry” grew a bit too wild, too loose, for some, and by 1934 the Production Code rode in to tame the town and its movies—by keeping an eye on what audiences saw on the screen. Will Hays and his posse kept vigil over what actors could or couldn’t say (God’s name was a “couldn’t”), how characters looked (both breasts back in, ladies), and how they behaved (murder always got you payback; if you didn’t meet your bad ending in an alley somewhere, you’d end up in the Big House for sure).


Yet, in spite of (or because of) trespassing over the line of decency, more men and women came to town to remake their images or become someone else completely. Even if you were Theodosia Burr Goodman, a Jewish girl from Cincinnati with little to recommend you other than a mouth like Clara Bow’s, you could take yourself and your chutzpah to Hollywood and become Theda Bara in a couple of weeks. No matter what skills you had (or didn’t have), if you dreamed big enough and had enough drive and chutzpah you could transform yourself into whomever you wanted to be. Men and women with ambition could either unleash their creativity or make a bundle off those who already had. More than one director in early Hollywood—such as a George Stevens or a Buster Keaton— jump-started a career by literally jumping a fence into the backyard of a production company, picking up a pencil, and starting to write a script.


New technologies in film certainly widened and deepened its scope; when Greta Garbo first “spoke” in Anna Christie in 1931, she gave her own humanity a voice and deepened her emotional impact. But she voiced only what writers gave her. The storytellers who came to Hollywood remained the bottom line and always would. They created the soil from which everything grew. Writers imagined the words that transformed into scripts that could make magic. Writers sent moviegoers to distant corners of the world—into the wild, out to the Arctic pole and the seven seas—or straight into the human heart.


Hollywood took everyone. When novelists William Faulkner and Ernest Hemingway saw their book revenues drop, they dropped into MGM’s writers’ bungalows for several years to make ends meet. F. Scott Fitzgerald, who actually loved the movies—whereas Faulkner and Hemingway found writing scripts demeaning work—wrote his last novel, The Last Tycoon, while living in the Hollywood Hills; he saw Los Angeles, the West, as the last frontier in the United States, a landscape of golden dreamers. Fitzgerald never finished The Last Tycoon; he died of a heart attack in 1940. Much like Hemingway and Faulkner, these great novelists were celebrities in town more than successful screenwriters. Hollywood proved a tougher town than expected for writers of such renown. They garnered fewer screenwriting credits than their glamorous aura might have indicated.


Still, if you were a pilot or a seafaring man or explorer and wandered into Hollywood, you could find work as a consultant in an instant. And if you were John Farrow, back from the sea and having already earned some notoriety as a storyteller and adventurer, you could also parlay your nautical expertise into work as a script consultant and technical adviser. Farrow did just that, and landed a job working for Cecil B. DeMille—eventually taking his talents to RKO and Paramount Studios.


The way young Farrow told it, he lived for adventure. He lived his life undaunted, taking risks when he had to and jumping into the unfamiliar if he could. Perhaps it wasn’t all bunk, after all. Long after Farrow’s death, Maureen O’Sullivan described her husband of twenty-seven years in similar terms. Nostalgia may have tinted her words. But, Maureen knew John Farrow as only a wife (and perhaps a few other women) could, right down to the snake tattoo wrapped around his right ankle before traveling straight up his leg to his groin.


“John was a larrikin,” she told her good friend, Mark Montgomery, with all the Irish in her. “He was mischievous, even rowdy at times. He was good-hearted but simply disregarded social conventions.” His bad-boy reputation grabbed her attention long before she’d met John Farrow. When he moved from screenwriting to directing films, he showed his adventurous side. He was an adventurer and a poet to Maureen. Changing the details of his life story as often as he did, John was, in her eyes, “a master of invention.”


This gifted writer who didn’t think twice about going out on a limb (for an adventure and a story to tell) now climbed onto Hollywood’s fast track and went places and took up its pace. Farrow was looking at a bright future. He could do wonders with a blank sheet of paper. Soon enough he’d direct films that still leave their mark decades after their initial impact. In the years to come, he’d be a father to seven more children, some of whom would find fame in their own way. Farrow was as much a Hollywood mythmaker as the city itself. But he also had demons, and would be tarnished by them.


Farrow took on almost any assignment that came his way, even writing intertitles for the occasional silent film. He wrote the title cards for White Gold (1927) and then for The Wreck of the Hesperus (1927) at DeMille Productions.


From a 1928 write-up in Variety:




In the writers’ class are to be found John Farrow, who was a poet in Australia. He got a job doing odd work at DeMille’s. Then he sold Rupert Julian [a New Zealand actor, director, writer and producer, who directed sixty films and acted in over ninety] the idea he should supply the titles for ‘Yankee Clipper’ [1927]. That put him over as title man and writer. He wrote [the] screen version of ‘The Wreck of the Hesperus,”’ [1927; the original of ‘The Blue Danube’ [1928], ‘Menace’ and ‘Toward the Moon.’12





Farrow began selling his own stories and screenplays to the studios. He built up a reputation as a talented screenwriter with few limitations who wore many hats. So, of course, he soon left DeMille and joined the Paramount writing staff.


“John Farrow, only 23 years old, but who has several stories to his credit,” quickly began writing screenplays and adaptations for the studio; he was tapped as scenarist and was sent to St. Martins, Maryland, to work with Gary Cooper and Fay Wray on The First Kiss (1928). He subsequently renewed his contract with Paramount.13


From Exhibitors Herald and Motion Picture World: “Paramount has just purchased the film rights to ‘The Haunting Melody,’ a novel by John Farrow, soon to be published by Putnam and Sons. Fay Wray and Gary Cooper will be co-starred in the film, which will have dialogue and sound. It is said that the recurring of a ‘haunting melody’ will play a large part in the picture.”14


By the end of 1928, Farrow had even taken out a costly, half-page ad in the Film Daily Yearbook touting his stature as an author-scenarist for such films as The Blue Danube, The Wreck of the Hesperus, and The Bride of the Colorado. And in January 1929, an advertisement announcing the exclusive management of John Farrow by Myron Selznick (brother of David O. Selznick and one of Hollywood’s top agents) ran in Variety.15


At Paramount, Farrow worked on a series of “woman’s pictures”: Three Weekends (1928) with Clara Bow; The Woman from Moscow (1928) for Pola Negri; The First Kiss (1928) with Fay Wray and Gary Cooper; and Ladies of the Mob (1929), also with Bow.


After writing titles and scripts with true staying power—The Showdown (1928), The Four Feathers (1929), and A Dangerous Woman (1929)—Farrow scripted a United Artists adventure yarn, The Bad One, released in 1930. Its two leads, Hollywood heartthrobs Dolores del Río and Edmund Lowe, who had helped increase box office revenues for several earlier pictures at the studio, were by now more than good friends. But Farrow, undaunted, found del Río as alluring as most other men did, and the two began an extended on-again, off-again romance.


Del Río was the latest on a growing list of Hollywood beauties Farrow bedded down now. As the years went by, the list grew longer. Eventually, the sheer number of women Farrow took to bed became almost (and permanently) dizzying. If Farrow began making a name for himself as a talented scenarist, and later as a director, neither measured up to his infamy as a gifted womanizer. One can only imagine the amount of energy it took to take so many rolls in the hay; to keep track, let alone keep up the schedule. Telling one woman about another would cause sheer exhaustion—requiring energy better put to use in another capacity. It would be understandable, then, that Farrow might have neglected to tell del Río about his erstwhile “engagement” to Diana Churchill across the pond. This was of little consequence, however, as the news would soon be readily available to anyone soon enough, and would surprise more than a few Hollywood beauties. The engagement was not simply a fiction of Farrow’s fertile imagination. When it caught the attention of Diana’s father, Prime Minister Winston Churchill, he told the press, in no uncertain terms, that his daughter, Diana, and Farrow were not engaged and never would be. Actually, he said, they were little more than good friends.16


When not busy being vibrant with del Río, Farrow was busy being vibrant on the page. When Farrow’s novelization of the picture The Bad One, was, published simultaneously with the film’s release, all of Hollywood could see Farrow’s stunning prose style. His descriptions of Marseilles are vivid, even voluptuous—there’s enough life force running through them that the reader almost feel their pulse:




Marseilles is a city of the world, full of the smells and sounds of many races . . . It is a city of the present, of the people who live while there is life, a cosmopolis in which adventure still is lurking behind crazy doors, up slanting alleys . . . women accept each other and everything else with a ready candor born of rich experience, mellowed tolerance of the human spirit in its eternal conflict with the flesh.17





Farrow’s language is strikingly cinematic, beckoning the camera to move around streets splashed with color and shape. The prose captures the fullness of life, and the animation invites readers to move freely and experience all the activity.


Working as a gun for hire at the studios and doctoring others’ scripts gave Farrow hands-on experience recognizing genre and story structure. In doing this, he joined some of the great directors of his generation, such as George Stevens, Frank Capra, and Billy Wilder, along with those from a generation earlier, such as Raoul Walsh, Howard Hawks, and John Ford, who also learned it all by doing it for others first. But unlike the others, Farrow then turned 180 degrees and, after another visit to Tahiti, compiled an English-French-Tahitian dictionary.
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